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“The Supreme Irony of Life Is That Hardly Anyone Gets 
Out of It Alive.”

Robert A. Heinlein

Very few people have a perfect eidetic (photographic) memory. Memory is a fluid and often unreliable human function. 
During my time as a trainee investigator at the Army Intelligence School at Fort Holabird, Maryland, a classroom lecture on interviewing 
was interrupted by a man dressed in a clown mask, a tuxedo, swim fins, a cowboy hat, and a purple cummerbund. He ran into the room, 
screamed epithets, fired a weapon into the ceiling, and ran out. The teacher instructed each member of the class to write down a 
description of the intruder. None of our descriptions was accurate, and we were all shocked when the shooter was brought back into the 
class. The noise he made, the firing of a weapon, and the fear the incident engendered made it almost impossible to recall him accurately. 
Some even described him as having been female. 
The professional recognizes that some EUO techniques can cause honest subjects — those who are innocent but “just trying to be 
helpful” — to “misremember” and provide unreliable, even false, information. It has long been known that false memories can be 
implanted by a process of suggestion, especially when used by skillful but unscrupulous attorneys or interviewers. 
Leading questions—where a desired answer is suggested by the way the question is phrased—are a dangerous impediment to fact 
finding. The true professional, impartial and seeking only the truth, must guard against even inadvertently leading a subject to creating 
false memories. 

Lies and Memory
Evidence shows that the use of a suggestive EUO technique can be material to the preparation of defense, and the courts have recognized 
that suggestive EUO techniques are material to the credibility of prosecution witnesses in United States v. Noel, 581 F.3d 490 (7th

Circuit, 09/04/2009), to name one example. 
A police officer who lies to a suspect may, however, find the results of the EUO accepted as “following from a reasonable interrogation 
technique.” In State v. Hatcher, No. 99AP-460 (02/17/2000), the Ohio Court of Appeal was faced with an officer who explained his 
EUO technique this way: 

Well, if you have certain facts that you believe that a suspect has committed, say they’ve done one thing, if you make 
it seem like the accuser is making it more, then it is easier for that person to say, oh, no, I didn’t do that, but all I did 
was this. It’s just a technique that we’re trained to do. 
The court concluded: 
Thus, regardless of this court’s view of the use of lies by detectives as an EUO technique during the course of 
questioning a defendant, we cannot find this factor alone supports a finding that appellant’s confession was 
involuntary. 

However, in a subsequent dissent, the court’s decision was criticized: 
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We simply should not sanction this “technique.” The jury which heard the case was rightly concerned about the police 
conduct in this case. ... This technique is within the purview of our deliberation as an appellate court. Indeed, most 
courts, including many cited by the majority, have consistently disapproved of this technique as producing 
untrustworthy statements. Significantly, this court unequivocally did so in State v. Johnston (1990), 64 Ohio App.3d 
238, which case the majority references, but fails to apply. We should clearly and consistently express ourselves about 
this technique and refuse to reward its use. Since the majority of this panel does not take that step, I respectfully 
dissent. 

Piaget and Implanted Memory 
In psychotherapeutic settings, when hypnotized subjects are regressed to a “past life” and are given suggestions that they were abused 
in their past life, many subsequently “remember” the suggested abuse and regard it thereafter as a fact. This phenomenon is not limited 
to the context of hypnosis. 
One of the best-known examples of a false memory is found in the autobiography of developmental psychologist Jean Piaget. Dr. Piaget 
wrote that a kidnapping had been attempted on him when he was only two years old. He remembered copious details concerning the 
incident. Years later, however, the nurse who had reported the kidnapping attempt admitted that she made the entire story up to avoid 
being fired, and to gain the good graces, even the gratitude, of the Piaget family. 
As a child Dr. Piaget had heard the story repeated so many times that he could not differentiate between his own memories and the false, 
imparted narratives that overtook his recollection. He would describe, with utter conviction, the assailants, the clothes he was wearing, 
how he was pulled by the kidnappers from his carriage, and the pain he experienced. He recalled all these details as if they were “real’” 
memories. And, being the memories of an educated and rational man—a professional psychologist, in fact—they remained 
unquestionably “true.” But they were proven to be entirely false. 
Children’s cognitive abilities do not merely increase quantitatively. They go through stages that are recognized as being qualitatively 
different from one to the next. Childhood cognition and memory is fundamentally distinct from adult thought and recall. Most research 
confirms that the development of accurate recall skills occurs between ages five and 10. While younger children can be said to have 
memories, their linguistic inability to articulate them to others causes such “images” to disappear soon after formation. When a parent 
or other adult later relates their version of the presumably shared “memory,” the child literally incorporates the story into his or her own 
inchoate version of it. 
Another example of compromised memory is the victim who misidentifies a suspect due to an unduly orchestrated police lineup. 
The fact that humans are prone to having memories implanted this way has resulted in leading questions being ruled inadmissible in 
courtroom proceedings. Prospective jurors are often grilled as to their existing knowledge (usually gleaned from the mass media) of the 
case to be tried. During trials, jurors are sequestered, cut off from news sources, and not allowed to discuss the case outside the 
courtroom. Such steps are taken because we now know that the ability in adults to accurately remember events can be tainted to the 
point that their testimony is deemed “too unreliable to be admitted without offense to due process.” 
Some jurisdictions, including New Jersey, have even allowed trial courts to conduct “taint hearings” in cases where the defendant can 
produce some evidence that a child-victim’s accusations are the product of suggestive or coercive EUO techniques. Under New Jersey 
law, once the defendant establishes sufficient evidence of unreliability, the burden shifts to the State to prove by clear and convincing 
evidence that the child’s statements are reliable. 

False Memory Syndrome 
In Milton’s Paradise Lost, Satan takes on the appearance of an angel and convinces an archangel entrusted with guarding creation to 
guide him to the Garden of Eden. There, Satan further deceives Adam and Eve and causes the fall of humanity. John Milton used this 
biblical example of deceit to illuminate the human condition. 
The professional, no matter how experienced, should resist the temptation to believe he or she is a human lie detector. False memories 
are all too easy to implant, and in their vivid imagery and wealth of detail, they can be indistinguishable from true recollections. Indeed, 
these memories are experienced as entirely real by those who possess them, and even after their unreliability has been exposed, they 
function to mask (or have perhaps entirely replaced) any original or true memory. The professional recognizes that any method of lie 
detection, including his or her own techniques, requires complete corroboration. Sincerity is what makes the self-deceived deceiver so 
convincing. 
The name for this phenomenon is false memory syndrome: the belief that it is possible for one to remember in great detail events—
especially traumatic ones—that did not actually occur. 
Some people believe that the memory is like a computer hard drive that records every event accurately and keeps it intact. Research on 
memory has debunked that myth and raised many questions about remembering and forgetting. Memories are malleable. They change 
incrementally each time we recall past events. With the passage of time, with direction or motivation, with the introduction of 
“interfering” facts..., memory is inexorably transformed. When conducting an EUO the professional must be careful not to provide the 
subject with a trigger that will unconsciously transform his or her memory of an event to fit the interviewer’s needs. 
Much remains to be learned about human memory, especially about how both traumatic and non-traumatic memories are preserved. It 
has been shown that some of our memories can become “unavailable” to us. Furthermore, when such memories are seemingly 
rediscovered or uncovered, they can often be shown to be contaminated mixtures of both accurate and inaccurate information. Because 
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of the reconstructive nature of memory, some memories may be distorted through influences such as the incorporation of new 
information, a factor which the professional must always take into consideration. 

Memories Created by the Interviewer 
The problem of tainted memory is much more evident in young children. The risk with young children is that they may be unable to 
distinguish between a memory of something that actually happened and a memory of something they only imagined happening. If an 
EUO technique leads a child to imagine an event, the child’s “memory” of that imagined event (the implanted memory) will be just as 
real to the child as memories of events he or she actually experienced. 
The Arizona Supreme Court noted that that repressed memories of childhood abuse can exist, and that they can be triggered and 
recovered. It also concluded that other, equally real-seeming memories can be inaccurate, may be implanted, and may be attributable to 
poorly trained therapists or use of improper therapeutic techniques. The court found that it is therefore impossible to say with any 
accuracy which memories are real and which are implanted. Moreover, it concluded that juries must decide on a case-by-case basis 
whether either repressed memory recovery or false memory syndrome is at play. 

Confabulation 
Important to every investigator or lawyer dealing with an EUO or interview of a witness or insurer must understand the fact of 
confabulation. It is essential to understand that some people, although not actually cunning, intentional liars, are simply unable tell the 
truth. The condition known as confabulation is a memory disturbance characterized by verbal statements inaccurately representing 
memory, background, or present situations. Confabulation is considered “honest lying,” and is distinct from deliberate lying because 
there is typically no intent to deceive—the individual is unaware that their information is false. Individuals who confabulate are generally 
very confident about their recollections, despite evidence contradicting its truthfulness. 
In Maine, a court denied a motion and allowed all of the expert’s testimony except for his conclusion that a person was likely 
confabulating. During a voir dire examination at trial, as a proffer from the expert did testify that it was “more likely than not” that the 
person’s recollection of the shooting was a product of confabulation. Upon the State’s objection to the expert’s entire testimony, the 
court excluded only this opinion from being presented in front of the jury. The court stated that it excluded this statement because (1) it 
related to witness credibility; (2) the court was troubled by the expert’s conclusion that it was “more likely than not” that the witness 
was confabulating despite his admission that “most clinical neuropsychologists ... wouldn’t be necessarily talking about confabulation”; 
and (3) the expert would be acting as a thirteenth juror, employing the same type of analyses that the jurors would be using as fact 
finders. [State v. Murray, 2021 ME 47, 259 A.3d 1276 (Me. 2021)] 
The best-known causes of confabulation are traumatic and acquired brain damage (e.g., aneurysm, edema), and psychiatric or 
psychological disorders (e.g., schizophrenia, bipolar disorder, or dementia). The professional interviewer must hone his or her ability to 
recognize a confabulator—a person who, clinically speaking, cannot tell the truth—because the confabulator, judging by tests and all 
other indications, appears to be a truthful person. 
Usually, confabulation does not benefit the subject. He or she is motivated by nothing other than the desire to relate his or her thoughts 
and experiences. Confabulations, although not true, are not lies. They are the product of a psychological problem that must be understood 
by the interviewer before drawing any conclusions about the degree of truthfulness in the subject’s responses. 
Problems of confabulation and suggestion are magnified by certain investigative techniques that the professional should avoid. Often 
the person interviewed will develop a rapport with the interviewer and subconsciously wish to please him or her by giving answers 
which the subject believes the professional desires. This risk is particularly high when the subject has a substantial interest in the outcome 
of the investigation. These answers then become a part of the subject’s memory. The more a witness repeats his or her story the more 
fixed it becomes in his or her mind. In addition, by asking questions in a certain manner, the interviewer may unintentionally supply 
information that gets incorporated into the subject’s memory. 
Confabulation is what happens when the brain tries to fill in missing pieces of data. It is part of a natural reflex that is similar to what 
happens when there are gaps in our physical vision. There is an actual hole in your visual field, the “blind spot,” where the nerve sensors 
receive no light. But even if you close one eye and look, you are not aware of it. The brain fills in missing information. That is what also 
happens when there is a memory lacuna: the brain literally tries to bring in extraneous information to fill in this big empty space. 
Due to problems with this hyper compliance in the confabulator, a subject will refuse to admit that his or her memory is imperfect or 
has gaps in it. He or she will instead attempt to fill in those gaps. This could produce a recall of an event comprised of all the following 
elements: 

 relevant actual facts; 
 irrelevant actual facts taken from an unrelated prior experience of the subject; 
 fantasized materials (confabulations) unconsciously invented to fill gaps in the story; and 
 conscious lies—all formulated in the most realistic fashion possible. 

Dr. Martin T. Orne, one of the foremost experts on the subject of hypnosis, has observed that the concept of hyper-suggestibility is 
related to the phenomenon of confabulation. He points out that “the same process which increases suggestibility by permitting the subject 
to accept counterfactual suggestions as real also makes it possible for the subject to accept approximations of memory as accurate.” 
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The risk of confabulation is especially great during posthypnotic suggestion when the hypnotist suggests that the subject will remember 
clearly the forgotten event when the subject has no actual memory of the event. The subject may feel pressured to respond to the hypnotic 
suggestion as a result of desire to please the hypnotist. In addition, the subject tends to respond literally to hypnotic suggestion. These 
factors enhance the potential for the hypnotized person to “remember” events that actually did not occur. 

“More whites were brought as slaves to North Africa than blacks brought as slaves to the United States or to the 13 colonies from which 
it was formed. White slaves were still being bought and sold in the Ottoman Empire, decades after blacks were freed in the United 
States. – Thomas Sowell
“Where an excess of power prevails, property of no sort is duly respected. No man is safe in his opinions, his person, his faculties, or 
his possessions.” — James Madison
“Too bad all the people who know how to run the country are busy driving taxis and cutting hair.” — George Burns
“You have seen how a man was made a slave; you shall see how a slave was made a man.” – Frederick Douglass
“There must be a positive passion for the public good, the public interest, honour, power and glory, established in the minds of the 
people, or there can be no republican government, nor any real liberty: and this public passion must be superior to all private passions.” 
—John Adams
“You should always believe you’re going to win. The moment you show up and feel like you’re going to lose, you’re going to 
lose.” – Usain Bolt
“It is better to fail in originality, than to succeed in imitation.” — Herman Melville
“The sun, with all those planets revolving around it and dependent on it, can still ripen a bunch of grapes as if it had nothing else in the 
universe to do.” — Galileo Galilei
“Justice is the end of government. It is the end of civil society. It ever has been and ever will be pursued until it be obtained, or until 
liberty be lost in the pursuit.” —James Madison
“It isn’t the rich who pay, but the honest.”  — Jewish saying  
“Experience is the oracle of truth; and where its responses are unequivocal, they ought to be conclusive and sacred.” —Alexander 
Hamilton and James Madison
“The really frightening thing about middle age is the knowledge that you’ll grow out of it.” – Doris Day
“The blizzard doesn’t last forever; it just seems so.” – Ray Bradbury
”Kindness, I’ve discovered, is everything in life.” –Isaac Bashevis Singer

SIU Regulations
Insurers licensed or operating in California must file their SIU annual reports by 
Wednesday, Sept. 28, Insurance Commissioner Ricardo Lara reminded insurers recently.  
Failing to file by the 11:59 pm deadline may lead to fines or other regulatory actions. 
Information about the annual report requirement is available on the CDI website. Insurers 
may access an electronic portal to file reports.
For further information, including how to fulfill the training requirements of the SIU 
Regulations before the deadline, see my book in Kindle or Paperback at amazon.com and 
at this link for: California SIU Regulations 2020 
Fair Claims Settlement Practices Regulations 2022

Insurers licensed or operating in California must ascertain that their entire claims staff has 
read, understood or be trained about the California Fair Claims Settlement Practices 
Regulations by September 1 of Each Year and be ready to swear under oath that the 

Regulation has been complied with by the insurer. 
Knowledge of the requirements of the Regulations is important to everyone involved in the business of insurance whether as an insurance 
adjuster, insurance claims management, public insurance adjuster, policyholder, defense lawyer, insurance coverage lawyer, and 
policyholder’s lawyer. One way for claims personnel to fulfill the requirements of the law see my book “California Fair Claims 
Settlement Practices Regulations 2022” which is now available as a Kindle Book and available as a Paper Back.
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Too Good to Be True is Fraud

Unregistered Security Exclusion Eliminates Duty to Defend or Indemnify
William Saoud sells insurance-related products. Beginning in 2017, he offered some of his clients a new financial instrument: a 
Memorandum of Indebtedness issued by 1 Global Capital, LLC. The investment opportunity was too good to be true. 
William Saoud, Patricia Boland- Saoud, and Bill Saoud Financial, LLC v. Everest Indemnity Insurance Company, No. 21-1621, United 
States Court of Appeals, Sixth Circuit (July 14, 2022) 

FACTS
Global Capital declared bankruptcy, and the SEC sued the company for alleged violations of 
the Securities and Exchange Act. Saoud’s clients also sued him. Saoud sought indemnification 
from his insurer, Everest Indemnity Insurance Company, and ultimately sued seeking a 
declaratory judgment and breach of contract. The district court granted summary judgment in 
favor of Everest, concluding that the claims related to 1 Global Capital did not fall within the 
scope of the insurance policy. 
Several clients sued Saoud and his wife, Patricia, who was also an employee of the firm. Their 
complaints generally alleged that the Saouds had falsely represented that the 1 Global 
Memorandum of Indebtedness was a secure investment and had sold an unregistered security in violation of Michigan’s securities laws. 
On February 19, 2019, Saoud Financial notified Lancer of two additional lawsuits filed by clients and of investigations by Michigan’s 
Department of Licensing and Regulatory Affairs and the SEC. Saoud Financial claimed expenses of over $100,000. Lancer and Everest 
never responded to this notice. 
Being in “limbo” as to Everest’s position on coverage, Saoud Financial reached out again to Lancer and notified it of an upcoming 
mediation, so that Everest could participate. But the Saouds never heard from Lancer or Everest. The Saouds eventually settled the 
lawsuits. 
On July 10, 2019, the Saouds and Saoud Financial sued Everest in Michigan state court, claiming breach of contract and seeking a 
declaratory judgment. Everest removed the suit to federal court and finally notified the Saouds that it would not defend or indemnify 
them for the lawsuits because, in its view, the claims did not fall within the scope of the policy. The district court ultimately granted 
summary judgment to Everest, concluding that a coverage exclusion applied. The Saouds appeal. 

DISCUSSION
The Everest policy included an “Unregistered Security Exclusion.” That provision excludes coverage for any claim “[b]ased upon, 
attributable to, or arising out of the use of or investment in any security that is not registered with the Securities and Exchange 
Commission.” 
The parties disputed whether the 1 Global Memorandum of Indebtedness was a “security” within the meaning of the exclusion. The 
district court explained that a “note” is presumed a “security” under the Securities Acts and concluded that the 1 Global Memorandum 
of Indebtedness was a “note.” 
The court also confirmed, after ordering supplemental briefing, that the 1 Global Memorandum of Indebtedness was a “security” because 

it was not a note that matured in nine months or less and, even if it was, the 1 Global Memorandum of 
Indebtedness was not “commercial paper.” 
The Saouds argued that the “Unregistered Security Exclusion” applies only if the complaints alleged that the 
Saouds sold “securities” that were required to be registered with the SEC and concluded that the Security 
Exclusion does not apply. 
The Saouds argued that waiver or estoppel should preclude Everest’s reliance on the “Unregistered Securities 
Exclusion” because Everest failed to timely disclaim coverage. In limited circumstances, Michigan courts 
prohibit insurers from raising defenses to coverage that they could have raised earlier. But this doctrine cannot 

broaden the coverage of a policy to protect the insured against risks that were not included in the policy or that were expressly excluded 
from the policy. 
Everest never represented the Saouds in the underlying litigation and therefore never controlled the Saouds’ litigation strategy to their 
detriment. Nor have the Saouds provided any evidence of actual prejudice from Everest’s delay in informing the Saouds that it would 
neither defend nor indemnify them. Instead, they argue that prejudice should be presumed. No presumptive prejudice applies, and 
Everest did not waive the right to raise the exclusion. 
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Finally, the Saouds appear to argue that, even if Everest had no duty to indemnify, it nonetheless had a duty to defend. Of course, the 
duty to defend is not “limited by the precise language of the pleadings” nor “limited to meritorious suits and may even extend to actions 
which are groundless, false, or fraudulent, so long as the allegations against the insured even arguably come within the policy coverage. 
Contrary to the Saouds’ argument, the duty to defend is not unlimited. The insurer is not required to defend against claims for damage 
expressly excluded from policy coverage. In other words, there is no duty to defend if there is no duty to indemnify as a matter of law. 
Here, all the claims against the Saouds were premised on the same unregistered security.
Both the duty to defend and the duty to indemnify turn on whether the “Unregistered Security Exclusion” applies. Because the Sixth 
Circuit concluded that the exclusion applies Everest had no duty to defend. 

ZIFL OPINION
Everest had an effective exclusion. It refused to defend or indemnify. Although the duty to defend is broad it is not unlimited. Since 
there was no duty to indemnify there was no duty to defend especially when it was determined they were defrauding their clients selling 
the unregistered securities and that fraud should never be an action where insurance protects the fraudsters. 

Barry Zalma, Esq., CFE has published five days a week videos on insurance claims, insurance claims law, insurance fraud and insurance 
coverage matters at https://www.rumble.com/zalma.https://rumble.com/c/c-262921
Barry Zalma, Esq., CFE, now limits his practice to service as an insurance consultant specializing in insurance coverage, insurance 
claims handling, insurance bad faith and insurance fraud almost equally for insurers and policyholders. He also serves as an arbitrator 
or mediator for insurance related disputes. He practiced law in California for more than 44 years as an insurance coverage and claims 
handling lawyer and more than 54 years in the insurance business. He is available at http://www.zalma.com and zalma@zalma.com. 
Mr. Zalma is the first recipient of the first annual Claims Magazine/ACE Legend Award. 
Over the last 54 years Barry Zalma has dedicated his life to insurance, insurance claims and the need to defeat insurance fraud. He has 
created the following library of books and other materials to make it possible for insurers and their claims staff to become insurance 
claims professionals.
See the more than 400 videos at https://www.rumble.com/zalma 

Beating an Employee with a Pistol for Four Hours is Excluded
State Farm Fire and Casualty Company filed a motion for summary judgment, arguing that it owed no duty to defend or indemnify 
defendants, Hamdallah, L.L.C., et al. (“the LLCs”), against the claims asserted by plaintiff, Nixon Calix. The trial court granted for 
summary judgment and dismissed all claims against State Farm with prejudice. 
In Nixon R. Calix v. Ideal Market # 6, Hamdallah, L.L.C., Kaki and Son, LLC, Hamdallah Hasan “Mario” Kaki, Muwafak “Mike” 
Kaki, Monadel “Cory” Elbarqa, Nofal “George” Haifa John Does 1-4, El Cortez Foods, LLC, And ABC & XYZ Insurance Company, 
No. 21-CA-555, Court of Appeals of Louisiana, Fifth Circuit (July 13, 2022) explained the right to rely on a clear and unambiguous 
exclusion. 

FACTS
On May 28, 2015, Nixon Calix sued for damages against Ideal Market #6, and others, alleging that while employed at Ideal Market #6, 
he was assaulted and battered by fellow employees who also threatened his life. 

The Intentional Beating
According to the facts alleged Mr. Calix was an employee in the meat department at Ideal Market #6, where Mario Kaki, Mohammad 
Kaki, and Muwafak Kaki were also employed in managerial capacities. Mohammad Kaki and Cory Elbarqa transported Mr. Calix to 
2309 L & A Road. There, Mr. Calix was accused of stealing meat from Ideal Market #6 and was “subjected to a violent physical assault 
and/or battery” by Mario Kaki, Mohammad Kaki, and Cory Elbarqa. Mario Kaki brandished a firearm, pointed it at Mr. Calix, and 
threatened to kill him if he did not confess to the alleged theft. When Mr. Calix refused to confess, Mario Kaki used the firearm as well 
as his fists and legs to beat Mr. Calix’s head, face, and body for approximately four hours. Mr. Calix claimed that he was “severely 
beaten, punched, kicked, abused, and terrorized” by Mario Kaki while Mohammad Kaki and Cory Elbarqa watched and prevented him 
from leaving. As a result, Mr. Calix alleged that he suffered severe mental and physical injuries. 

The Allegations
Mr. Calix alleged his injuries were caused by the intentional acts of the defendants, assault, battery, kidnapping, false imprisonment, 
and intentional infliction of emotional distress. Additionally, Mr. Calix claimed that the LLCs were vicariously liable under the doctrine 
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of respondeat superior for the derivative liability, negligence, and fault of its employees, and were liable individually, jointly, severally, 
and in solido through their own negligence, specifically for negligent hiring, negligent training, negligent supervision, and negligent 
retention. 

The Motion for Summary Judgment
State Farm filed a motion for summary judgment alleging that there is no coverage under its policies for the claims against the defendants. 
The trial court signed a written judgment granting the motion for summary judgment and dismissing all of Mr. Calix’s claims against 
State Farm with prejudice. 
The trial court found that regardless of the legal theory argued by Mr. Calix, the intentional actions of the owners/managers of the 
defendant companies, in particular the actions of Mario Kaki, are the essential cause of Mr. Calix’s alleged damages. Coverage for these 
actions was specifically excluded by the policies. 

The LAW 
A dispute as to the issue of whether, as a matter of law, the language of an insurance policy provides coverage to a party, can properly 
be resolved within the context of a motion for summary judgment. 
The extent of coverage is determined by the parties’ intent, as reflected by the words of the policy. An insurance company may limit 
coverage in any manner, as long as the limitations do not conflict with statutory provisions or public policy. 
Mr. Calix argued that the “expected or intended injury” exclusion does not apply to preclude vicarious liability or liability premised on 
respondeat superior. Finally, he contended that State Farm failed to meet its burden in its second motion for summary judgment because 
his injuries arose out of negligent hiring, training, supervision, and/or retention over multiple employees of multiple employers and not 
a single event and action of one person. 

The Exclusion
The State Farm policies contain an exclusion for expected or intended injury, which provides: 

1. Expected or Intended Injury
2. “Bodily injury” or “property damage” expected or intended to cause harm as would be expected by a reasonable 

person; or
3. “Bodily injury” or “property damage” which is the result of willful and malicious, or criminal acts of the insured.

ANALYSIS
This clause does not, by its precise terms, exclude coverage for bodily injury caused by the insured’s intentional act. Rather, it excludes 
coverage for bodily injury “expected or intended from the standpoint of the Insured.” The phrase “bodily injury … which is expected or 
intended,” emphasizes that an excluded injury is one which the insured intended, not one which the insured caused, however intentional 
the injury-producing act. The next phrase, “from the standpoint of the Insured,” emphasizes again that it is the insured’s subjective 
intention and expectation which delimit the scope of the exclusion. 
The Court of Appeal concluded that reasonable minds could not disagree that, accepting the allegations as true, Mario Kaki’s actions of 
using a firearm as well as his fists and legs to beat Mr. Calix’s head, face, and body for approximately four hours were expected or 
intended to cause bodily injury. 
Accordingly, there was no error in the trial court’s finding that the policies exclude coverage of any liability imposed on any defendants 
arising from Mr. Calix’s claims of assault, battery, kidnapping, false imprisonment, and/or intentional infliction of emotional distress 
alleged against Mario Kaki, Mohammad Kaki, Muwafak Kaki, and Cory Elbarqa. 
The trial court correctly pointed out in its judgment, even if defendants’ actions are deemed to be negligent, any liability imposed on 
defendants arising from their alleged actions are excluded from coverage based on bodily injury to a co-employee. 
Having found that the policies exclude coverage for the intentional acts of the employees/managers, the Court of Appeal also concluded 
that the policies do not provide coverage to the LLCs for any vicarious liability based on the employees’ actions. 
Any claims that the LLCs are liable based on claims of negligent hiring, negligent training, negligent supervision, and negligent retention 
stem from or are dependent on Mario Kaki’s actions. Therefore, there was no coverage under the present insurance policies based on 
allegations of negligence for damages resulting from Mario Kaki’s intentional acts and the trial court’s decision was affirmed. 

ZIFL OPINION
Fortunately for State Farm its exclusion clearly fit the allegations of the suit and the facts developed by the deposition of the plaintiff. 
No insurer should be required to defend or indemnify a party insured who beat the plaintiff with fists, feet, and a pistol for four hours. 
A single punch might be accidental but four hours is nothing more than a vicious beating that intentionally caused injury to the plaintiff. 
Mario Kaki and his cohorts will be required to defend themselves and pay any judgment the plaintiff obtains without the benefit of 
insurance.
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Dr. Jose Santeiro lured patients for medically unneeded rehab in a $112M fleecing of private insurers in South Florida. Recruiters 
paid kickbacks to con addicted patients into attending Santeiro’s detox facilities, then plied them with illegal drugs to ensure they were 
admitted. Santeiro made false claims for excessive urinalysis drug tests that weren’t even used in treatment. Santeiro then readmitted a 
core group of addicted patients he shuffled between Compass Detox and another facility to fraudulently bill for as much bogus drug 
treatment as possible. Santeiro also prescribed Compass Detox patients an addictive “comfort drink” to sedate them so they’d stay at 
the facility and keep returning. And he let cohorts use his log-in at the detox facilities to sign electronic medical files to make it falsely 
appear he provided treatment. Santeiro was given 4 1/2 years in federal prison.
Who says insurance fraud isn’t a violent crime? The head of one of Pittsburgh’s largest pain-pill rings threatened to kill a police 
detective who started the investigation.  William Richardson’s murder threats helped earn him 25 years in federal prison. His 
foot soldiers lied to docs that they medically needed the prescriptions. Instead, they resold the pills to addicted people for large markups 
on the streets. Medicare and Medicaid often paid for the scripts — making insurance fraud a major and unintended financier of 
Richardson’s pill ring. In one intercepted call, Richardson said he knew where the detective lived and was “gonna blast his ass up like a 
[expletive]” and kill him “unaware.” Richardson also wanted the officer “blowed up” or “burned up.” Richardson earlier was convicted 
of numerous federal felonies, and thus couldn’t possess firearms. Yet investigators found a stash of guns and ammo in his house. 
Richardson also kept selling pain pills and milking Medicare from his home even while on house arrest for those earlier charges. Law 
enforcement dismantled Richardson’s pill network. Among the takedowns were two prolific pill suppliers — a pain doc and the head of 
an allied Detroit pill ring.
A dentist broke patients’ teeth to falsely bill insurers $4.2M for new crowns in the Milwaukee area. Scott Charmoli convinced 
patients they needed crowns, then intentionally broke their teeth with his drill and took pictures and X-rays of the damage. Charmoli 
first showed patients an X-ray of a healthy tooth, but pointed to a line or a spot he said showed a fracture or decay. He then badgered 
the patients into agreeing to crowns. Charmoli next broke their teeth and sent the images to insurers in seeking payment for expensive 
crown installs. Insurers believed the images showed pre-operation damage. So, they paid the claims, and many patients also paid large 
co-pays. Some patients were vulnerable people in abusive relationships, recently widowed, survivors of cancer, and scrounging paycheck 
to paycheck to afford the copays. Charmoli persuaded Todd Tedeschi to get two crowns in one sitting, even though his teeth seemed 
fine. Charmoli installed more than 700 crowns a year from 2016 to 2019 — around the 95th percentile among dentists in the state. 
Charmoli was handed 4 1/2 years in prison.
Prosecutors felled a logger’s fake-injury plot in Kalma, Wash. James Joseph Thomasson first claimed a tree struck his leg, 
causing bruises and abrasions. A year later, Thomasson said he hurt his back while using a wedge to fell a tree. His workers-comp doc 
said he couldn’t work due to the injuries, and was eligible for lost-wage benefits. Then an anonymous tip put the Washington State 
Department of Labor & Industries on his trail. Thomasson was surveilled walking briskly uphill. Social media video postings showed 
him dancing and lifting a heavy tool above his head. Thomasson also walked slowly and limped at med appointments, and when he 
thought he was under surveillance. He received 60 days of home detention and must repay $163.5K.
Impersonating patients, Matthew James ran medical billing companies that stole more than $600M for inflated false plastic 
surgery claims around the U.S. The St. James, N.Y. man made claims to insurers. James made thousands of billing calls that 
impersonated patients. He charged for procedures that were more-serious or entirely different than procedures his docs performed. In 
two cases James impersonated Jeff Pash, the NFL’s general counsel and Marcus Smart, who plays for the NBA’s Boston Celtics. He 
exaggerated their medical procedures to inflate billings, receiving a percentage of the insurance money. James also directed his doctors 
and clients to schedule elective surgeries through ERs so insurers would reimburse at much-higher rates. When insurers denied his 
inflated claims, James impersonated patients to demand the insurers pay outstanding balances of up to thousands of dollars. He pled 
guilty and will be federally sentenced later.

Fraud Perpetrator’s Attempt to Avoid Jail Fails
After being convicted of multiple counts of fraud Ejaz Shreef was sentenced to a term of imprisonment for 48 months on each count, 
concurrent, followed by two years of supervised release.
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In Ejaz Shreef v. United States of America, Nos. 3:18-cr-157-RJC-DCK-2, 3:22-cv-78-RJC, United States District Court, W.D. North 
Carolina, Charlotte Division (July 8, 2022) resolved his motion to reduce his sentence.

BACKGROUND
A federal grand jury indicted Shreef, along with three coconspirators, with conspiracy to commit wire and bank fraud (Count One); and 

conspiracy to commit money laundering (Count Two). As to Count One, the Indictment 
charged that, “[f]rom in or about April 2009 through in or about April 2018, … [Shreef and the 
coconspirators] did knowingly, conspire to commit offenses against the United States, 
including violations of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1343 (wire fraud) and 1344 (bank 
fraud).”
Shreef proceeded to a jury trial and the jury convicted him on both counts. On direct appeal, 
Shreef argued that the insurance fraud scheme supporting the wire fraud object of the 
conspiracy concluded prior to the running of the statute of limitations and, even if the charge 

was timely, insufficient evidence supported the jury’s verdict; evidence of prior bad acts was inappropriately admitted against him; and 
trial counsel was ineffective for failing to request a “reliance-on-expert” jury instruction.
On April 9, 2021, the Fourth Circuit affirmed the Court’s Judgment and declined to address the ineffective assistance of counsel claim.
Shreef, unwilling to accept the Fourth Circuit’s decision, filed a Motion to Vacate. Shreef argued:
prosecutorial misconduct for the Government submitting 18 U.S.C. §§ 1343 and 1344 to support Shreef’s conviction “without submitting 
such statutes to the grand jury;” and
ineffective assistance of trial and appellate counsel for failing to adequately investigate the case; and
allowing the Government to convict or maintain a conviction unconstitutionally.

DISCUSSION
Shreef argued that the Government “overreach[ed]” and the Verdict Form submitted to the jury mirrored the charges set forth in the 
Indictment. Consistent with the Indictment, the jury found that “wire fraud,” and “bank fraud,” were objects of the conspiracy.
Ineffective Assistance of Counsel
The Sixth Amendment to the U.S. Constitution guarantees the accused the right to the assistance of counsel for his defense. To show 
ineffective assistance of counsel, Shreef must establish a deficient performance by counsel and, second, that the deficient performance 
prejudiced him.
Courts are required to recognize the strong presumption that counsel’s conduct falls within the wide range of reasonable professional 
assistance. Furthermore, in considering the prejudice prong of the analysis, the Court can only grant relief if the result of the proceeding 
was fundamentally unfair or unreliable.
Shreef bears the burden of showing that there is a reasonable probability that but for counsel’s failure to raise an issue on appeal, the 
result of the proceeding would have been different; i.e., that he would have prevailed on appeal.
The court concluded that there was no deficient performance by Shreef’s trial or appellate counsel for their failure to raise or attempt to 
support a frivolous argument. Moreover, Shreef failed to allege or shown any prejudice.
Therefore, Shreef’s Motion to Vacate was dismissed and denied.

ZIFL OPINION
Insurance fraud perpetrators do not expect to be caught. Experience shows that a very small percentage of fraud perpetrators are caught, 
even smaller groups are prosecuted and even smaller groups are convicted. Those who are convicted, like Mr. Shreef, believe that the 
only reason they were caught and convicted had to be the fault of someone else and claim prosecutorial misconduct and inadequacy of 
counsel. Since their crimes, but for the conviction, were probably successful, they have funds to support appeals and motions to keep 
themselves out of jail. Mr. Shreef’s second attempt properly failed.

Appeals Court Reverses Verdict Against Surgeon in Spinal Implant Kickback Case
A federal appellate court overturned a $5.5 million jury verdict against a Missouri orthopedic surgeon who is accused in a whistleblower 
lawsuit of taking kickbacks from a spinal implant distributor owned by his fiancée. 
A panel of the 8th Circuit Court of Appeals ruled July 26, 2022 that improper instructions were given to the jury that found Dr. Sonjay 
Fonn of Cape Girardeau and distributor Deborah Seeger liable for violations of the federal False Claims Act. The panel said the jury 
should have been told that the government must show not only that Fonn accepted kickbacks, but also that the payments influenced his 
decision to use those particular implants. 
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The 8th Circuit’s ruling allows the Department of Justice and the whistleblowers to try the case again. But Fonn’s attorney, James G. 
Martin with the Dowd & Bennett law firm in St. Louis, said he doesn’t believe the government has the evidence it needs to win a jury 
verdict against his client under the standard set by the 8th Circuit. 
Martin said even with the lower standard of causation allowed by the US District Court, the jury exonerated both Fonn and Seeger on 
one of the government’s three counts, found in favor of Fonn on a second count and awarded no damages against either of the plaintiffs 
on a third count. 
The evidence presented at trial did, however, persuade a jury to award $5,495,931 in damages, which is triple the amount Fonn billed 
Medicare and Medicaid for disputed spinal fusion surgeries. 
Attorneys for the US Justice Department said in a single year, Seeger was paid $1.3 million in 50% commissions from spinal implant 
manufacturers who sold products for Fonn’s surgeries. She in turn, is alleged to have rewarded him lavishly with purchases that included 
home improvements and a Sea Lion yacht. 
The US Justice Department filed criminal charges against Fonn and Seeger in 2014, but dismissed the indictment a year later. 
The group of Cape Giradeau physicians, however, continued with a False Claims Act whistleblower lawsuit that they filed in 2012 
against Fonn, Seeger and Fonn’s medical practices. The jury returned its multi-million verdict in 2018. Fonn and Seeger appealed.  
The appellate panel said the US District Court Judge erred by instructing the jury that the government must prove, under a preponderance 
of evidence, that a fraudulent claim was made if there was any violation of the anti-kickback statute. The government argued that 
Congress had amended the False Claims Act in 2010 so that any claim “tainted” by a kickback is false. 
The 8th Circuit panel said the law doesn’t actually go that far. As amended in 2010, the law states that a claims are fraudulent if they 
are “resulting from” a violation of the anti-kickback statute. That means the government must prove a “but for causal relationship,” the 
opinion said. 
“Tracking the textbook definition, the government had to prove here that the defendants would not have included particular ‘items or 
services’ absent the illegal kickbacks,” the opinion said. 
The panel noted in its opinion that it disagreed with a stance taken by the 3rd Circuit Court of Appeals in 2018. That court improperly 
looked to Congress’ intention when it adopted the False Claims Act amendments to determine that any kickback makes a claim 
fraudulent, the opinion says. 
False Claims Act lawsuits rarely make it to the appellate courts, which is why only two of the 14 federal circuits have ruled on the 
standard of evidence required to prove a violation. 

DiNapoli Audit Finds Lax Oversight of Medicaid Payments May Have New York and Federal Taxpayers 
Losing Almost $300 Million  
According to an audit by New York State Comptroller Thomas P. DiNapoli a lack of oversight by the state Department of Health (DOH) 
and the Office of the Medicaid Inspector General (OMIG) resulted in nearly $300 million in pharmacy claims that Medicaid never tried 
to recover from patients’ insurance providers. 
The New York State Medicaid program provides a wide range of medical services to many New Yorkers, including those with lower 
incomes and/or people with special health care needs. As of the close of the State’s fiscal year on March 31, 2022, New York’s Medicaid 
program had served approximately 7.8 million recipients and Medicaid claim costs totaled about $74.6 billion. 
Per federal law and state regulations, Medicaid is always the payer of last resort. This means that if a Medicaid recipient has third-party 
health insurance (TPHI) coverage, then those third-party benefits must be exhausted before the Medicaid program is billed. 
To address instances where a TPHI should have paid instead of Medicaid, the DOH—in partnership with OMIG and Health Management 
Systems, Inc. (HMS)—utilizes post-payment reviews. Auditors found that weaknesses in DOH’s and OMIG’s oversight of HMS’ 
payment reviews likely contributed to significant waste and a missed opportunity to recover improper payments. 
Between October 2015 and May 2020, auditors identified drug claims paid by Medicaid managed care plans totaling $292 million for 
which HMS did not bill claims to TPHI carriers for recovery, despite the individuals having third-party drug coverage. For instance, 
nearly $40 million was paid for Medicaid recipients with Medicare Part D coverage and for covered medications provided at in-network 
providers—a scenario that is very likely the responsibility of Medicare, not Medicaid, and that should have been refunded to the state. 
Also, auditors presented a sample of 50 (which included high-cost drugs) to OMIG and HMS for their review and asked for an 
explanation as to why they were not billed to the TPHI carrier. HMS was unable to determine why most of these claims—38 out of 50—
were not recovered, and for another 9 out of 50, auditors found the explanations were not justified. 
According to HMS officials, internal processes are not set up to track why individual claims are excluded from the recovery process. 
Auditors determined that without proper oversight and this level of tracking, there is no way to ensure that all appropriate recoveries are 
being made. Also concerning, HMS did not have comprehensive reports of its activities available upon auditors’ request. DiNapoli’s 
audit recommended: 

 A review of the $292 million in Medicaid payments made on behalf of recipients with TPHI identified by the audit to ensure 
overpayments are appropriately recovered;

 An assessment of pharmacy claims that were billed to TPHI carriers but did not result in recovery of payment to ensure that 
proper steps are taken to obtain recoveries where appropriate;
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 An assessment of the third-party liability recovery process for managed care pharmacy services and implementation of 
corrective actions where necessary; and,

 Implementation of ongoing monitoring of the TPHI recovery process for managed care pharmacy services to ensure that all 
appropriate recoveries are made within the statute of limitations. 

In response to our audit, officials stated that all claims are reviewed as part of existing processes. However, officials acknowledged that 
they are working on enhancements to the entire recovery process, which will include developing additional reporting to give OMIG 
greater insight into why claims were not billed to TPHI carriers for recovery. 

Jury Convicts Man of $600 Million Health Care Fraud, Wire Fraud, and ID Theft Scheme 
Mathew James, 54, of East Northport, was convicted by a federal jury. James, a New York man was convicted over $600 million health 
care fraud, wire fraud, and identity theft scheme. 
According to court documents and evidence presented at trial, James operated a medical billing company that billed for procedures that 
were either more serious or entirely different than those James’ doctor-clients performed. James directed his doctor-clients to schedule 
elective surgeries through the emergency room so that insurance companies would reimburse at substantially higher rates. When 
insurance companies denied the inflated claims, James impersonated patients to demand that the insurance companies pay the 
outstanding balances of tens or hundreds of thousands of dollars. 
James was convicted of conspiracy to commit health care fraud, health care fraud, three counts of wire fraud, and three counts of 
aggravated identity theft. He is scheduled to be sentenced at a later date and faces up to 10 years in prison for health care fraud conspiracy, 
up to 10 years in prison for health care fraud, up to 20 years in prison for each of three wire fraud counts, and a two year mandatory 
minimum each for three aggravated identity theft counts. A federal district court judge will determine any sentence after considering the 
U.S. Sentencing Guidelines and other statutory factors. 
Former Nursing Home Employee Pleads No Contest to Abuse  
Former Nursing Home Employee Pleads No Contest to Felony Abuse by Caretaker. 
Cherish Finnie of Midwest City, Oklahoma, pleaded no contest before Oklahoma County District Judge Natalie Mai. The Court 
sentenced Finne on June 22, 2022. Finnie was taken into custody to serve the first 30 days of her sentence in custody with the remainder 
of her three (3) near sentence deferred under the supervision of the Oklahoma Department of Corrections Pardon and Probation. As a 
condition of her probation, Finnie agreed to not seek employment involving care of vulnerable adults or children while on probation, 
and to pay all fees, fines, and assessments associated with her case.  
The Oklahoma Attorney General Medicaid Fraud Control Unit (MFCU) investigation began after a referral was received from Adult 
Protective Services of potential abuse by caretaker at Reliant Living Center, located at 2901 SE 22nd Street in Oklahoma City. 
During the investigation, MFCU agents obtained witness statements and other evidence confirming Finnie arguing with a resident before 
pushing the resident into a railing and onto the ground. 

Diagnostic Laboratory to Pay $10 Million To Resolve Self-Referral and Kickback Allegations  
Delaware Company Illegally Paid Kickbacks to Physicians and Physicians’ Groups That Referred Testing 
to Its Labs; Massachusetts Will Receive More than $140,000 
BioReference Health, LLC, a national diagnostic laboratory company agreed to pay $10 million to the federal government and the 
states of Massachusetts and Connecticut to resolve self-referral and false claims allegations raised by a whistleblower, Attorney General 
Maura Healey and United States Attorney Rachael Rollins announced today. Massachusetts will receive a total of $141,000 for 
MassHealth, the Massachusetts Medicaid program.  
Delaware-based BioReference Health, LLC and its corporate parent OPKO Health, Inc. (OKPO) submitted claims to Medicare, 
MassHealth and Connecticut Medicaid that violated state and federal anti-kickback and self-referral laws. The primary fraud allegation 
involved kickbacks disguised as rental payments to encourage referrals from high-volume physician groups. 
In April 2019, a former employee of OKPO and BioReference filed a whistleblower lawsuit raising the allegations resolved by this 
settlement. 
This settlement is the latest development in the work of the AG’s Office to address kickbacks and false claims among Medicaid 
providers, particularly clinical and diagnostic laboratories. In May, the AG’s Medicaid Fraud Division secured indictments against an 
independent clinical laboratory in New Bedford and one of its owners who allegedly conducted an illegal kickback and Medicaid fraud 
scheme involving urine drug screens at sober homes. In June, an investigation by the Medicaid Fraud Division resulted in charges against 
three independent clinical laboratories, their owner and holding company, an additional independent clinical laboratory and its owner, 
two laboratory marketing companies, and a Massachusetts physician in connection with Medicaid fraud, money laundering, and 
kickbacks involving over $2 million in urine drug tests. 

Quincy, Mass. Woman Pleads Guilty, Sentenced to Prison for Fraudulent Billing Scheme  
Owner of Fortitude Counseling Ordered to Pay Restitution, Barred from Providing Services for or Billing MassHealth  
Nicole Kasimatis, age 48, pleaded guilty July 14, 2022 a woman from Quincy who owned a behavioral health clinic pleaded guilty and 
was sentenced to serve three to four years in state prison in connection with a widespread fraudulent scheme to bill the state’s Medicaid 
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program (MassHealth) and other private and government-funded insurance plans for behavioral health services that were never provided 
to patients or were improperly provided.  
Kasimatis pleaded guilty in Norfolk Superior Court to the charges of Larceny over $1200 (3 counts), Filing a False Health Care Claim 
(2 counts), and Medicaid False Claims (2 counts). Following the plea, Judge Peter Krupp ordered her to three to four years in state prison 
followed by three years of probation with the conditions that she pay restitution, not work for a MassHealth provider and not bill 
MassHealth for services, remain in Massachusetts and forfeit any passports, and stay away from and have no contact with named 
witnesses. The restitution amount will be determined at a later date. 
In November 2021, Kasimatis was arrested and arraigned for defrauding MassHealth of nearly $500,000 by billing for substance use 
disorder and/or mental health services she did not perform either because she was incarcerated or out of the country; billing for services 
not rendered by licensed or supervised Fortitude employees; and billing for services under the name and number of providers who no 
longer worked for Fortitude and who did not provide the services. In addition, Kasimatis obtained at least another $4,800 from private 
insurance companies for services not rendered.   
In January 2022, Kasimatis was arraigned on additional charges in connection with her billing scheme, by filing false Medicare claims 
for services not rendered and getting paid approximately $44,000. 
Kasimatis used the funds she obtained from her schemes for her own personal use, including paying for international travel, Disney 
trips, Red Sox games, baseball camps for her children, weight loss services, and even to post bail for her prior criminal charges. In 2015 
and 2018, Kasimatis was indicted by the Norfolk DA’s Office for public assistance fraud and larceny and pleaded guilty in Norfolk 
Superior Court in November 2020.  
Following the change of plea, Kasmatis’ probation from previous cases was revoked, and she was also sentenced to two to three years 
in state prison to run concurrently with her three- to four-year prison sentence. 

Twin Falls Provider Sentenced for Fraud and Obstruction of a Medicaid Fraud Investigation 
Idaho Attorney General Lawrence Wasden announced that Patricia Anderson, a 52-year-old Twin Falls woman was sentenced on 
Monday, July 11, for provider fraud and obstruction of a Medicaid fraud investigation. Anderson pleaded guilty in April. 
Fifth District Judge John Butler sentenced Anderson to a suspended sentence of three years with one year fixed. Anderson was then 
placed on supervised probation for three years, ordered to pay $2,000 in fines and serve 300 hours of community service. She has paid 
$1,782 in restitution. 
An investigation revealed that in 2017, Anderson billed Medicaid for services she didn’t provide. Investigators determined the fraudulent 
billing by establishing that Anderson traveled out of state on several occasions, yet billed Medicaid for services she purported to provide 
a family member in Idaho during the same periods. Payments for these services were reimbursed by the Idaho Medicaid Program. 
Investigators also determined that during questioning, Anderson did not accurately represent the extent of her travels during the periods 
in question. 

Broken Arrow, Oklahoma Woman Sent to Prison for Ten Years for Fraud  
Ashley Nicole Brown, 35, of Broken Arrow, Oklahoma, the owner of unlicensed home health company, and a former employee of 
another home health company, pleaded guilty to embezzling her coworkers’ payroll funds and their health insurance subsidies. 
Tulsa County District Judge Michelle Keely sentenced Brown to ten years, with seven years in prison and the following three years 
under the supervision of the Oklahoma Department of Corrections Probation and Parole. As a condition of her probation, Brown agreed 
to not own, manage, or work in the Oklahoma health care industry while on probation, and to pay restitution as well as all fines, fees, 
and assessments associated with her cases.  
In Tulsa County case number CF-2020-3519, the Oklahoma Attorney General Medicaid Fraud Control Unit (MFCU) investigation 
discovered evidence of embezzlement of payroll money and State health insurance subsidies intended for Brown’s coworkers. 
In Tulsa County case number CF-2022-1538, the MFCU investigation uncovered evidence that, even after being charged with the crimes 
in the earlier case, Brown proceeded to operate an unlicensed home health care company in Tulsa. Preying on an elderly Tulsa couple 
who hired Brown’s company to provide home health care, Brown used her position of trust to obtain their personal identification 
information and their bank account debit card numbers. Brown used the victims’ personal information and debit cards without their 
permission to pay off her personal debts, to pay her family members, and to pay her company.  
The Oklahoma MFCU has statewide jurisdiction to investigate and prosecute abuse, neglect, drug diversion and financial exploitation 
of elderly and vulnerable adults.  In this role, the MFCU serves as a safeguard against caretakers that abuse, neglect, or exploit vulnerable 
Oklahomans. The MFCU also investigates and prosecutes violations of state and federal laws pertaining to provider fraud in the 
administration of the Medicaid program. Additionally, the MFCU pursues and monitors Qui Tam or whistleblower litigation at the 
Oklahoma level and on a national level in conjunction with other states’ MFCUs and U.S. Attorneys offices. The MFCU can recover 
Medicaid funds by pursuing criminal sanctions, civil judgments, or administrative recoveries. 

Medical Device Manufacturer Biotronik Inc. Agrees to Pay $12.95 Million To Settle Allegations of 
Improper Payments to Physicians 
Biotronik Inc. (Biotronik), a medical device manufacturer based in Oregon, has agreed to pay $12.95 million to resolve allegations that 
it violated the False Claims Act by causing the submission of false claims to Medicare and Medicaid by paying kickbacks to physicians 
to induce their use of Biotronik’s implantable cardiac devices, such as pacemakers and defibrillators. 
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The Federal Anti-Kickback Statute prohibits offering or paying anything of value to induce referrals of items or services covered by 
Medicare and other federally funded programs. The statute is intended to ensure that medical providers’ judgments are not compromised 
by improper financial incentives. 
The settlement announced July 22, 2022 resolves allegations that Biotronik engaged in a kickback scheme to pay certain favored 
physicians to induce and reward their use of Biotronik’s pacemakers, defibrillators and other cardiac devices. In particular, Biotronik 
allegedly abused a new employee training program by paying physicians for an excessive number of trainings and, in some cases, for 
training events that either never occurred or were of little or no value to trainees. Biotronik allegedly made these payments despite 
concerns raised by its own compliance department, which warned that salespeople had too much influence in selecting physicians to 
conduct new employee training and that the training payments were being over-utilized. The settlement also resolves allegations that 
Biotronik violated the Anti-Kickback Statute when it paid for physicians’ holiday parties, winery tours, lavish meals with no legitimate 
business purpose and international business class airfare and honoraria in exchange for making brief appearances at international 
conferences. 
Medicaid is funded jointly by the states and the federal government. The States of Arizona, California, Illinois, Missouri and Nevada 
paid for a portion of the Medicaid claims at issue and will receive a total of approximately $933,400 from the settlement with Biotronik. 
The civil settlement includes the resolution of claims brought under the qui tam or whistleblower provisions of the False Claims Act by 
Jeffrey Bell and Andrew Schmid, both of whom were previously employed as independent sales representatives for Biotronik. Under 
those provisions, a private party can file an action on behalf of the United States and receive a portion of any recovery.  Mr. Bell and 
Mr. Schmid will receive approximately $2.1 million as their share of the recovery in this case. The qui tam case is captioned United 
States ex rel. Bell, et al. v. Biotronik, Inc. et al., No. 2:18-cv-1895 (C.D. Cal.). 

Two Clinical Labs and Their Owners Agree to Pay $5.7 Million To Resolve Fraud Allegations 
Metric Lab Services LLC and Metric Management Services LLC (Metric) and Spectrum Diagnostic Labs LLC (Spectrum) and 
two of their owners and operators, Sherman Kennerson and Jeffrey Madison, have agreed to the settlement. 
The two clinical laboratories and their owners have agreed to pay $5.7 million to resolve allegations that they caused the submission of 
false claims to Medicare by paying kickbacks in return for genetic testing samples, the Department of Justice announced today. 
Metric and Spectrum were clinical laboratories in Mississippi and Texas, which Kennerson and Madison co-owned and operated along 
with other individuals. The United States alleged that Metric, Spectrum, Kennerson and Madison participated in a genetic testing fraud 
scheme with various marketers. These marketers solicited genetic testing samples from Medicare beneficiaries. The marketers arranged 
to have a physician fraudulently attest that the genetic testing was medically necessary, and Metric and Spectrum would process the 
tests, receive reimbursement from Medicare and pay a portion of that reimbursement to the marketers.  
In an attempt to conceal the nature of the kickback arrangement, Metric and Spectrum entered into sham agreements with marketers to 
provide various consulting, marketing and other services at an hourly rate. In reality, however, Metric and Spectrum paid the marketers 
a percentage of revenue, including Medicare reimbursement, in return for the samples. The marketers then generated sham invoices for 
hourly services that matched the agreed-upon kickback amount.  
Kennerson and Madison each previously pleaded guilty to one count of conspiracy to defraud the United States in connection with this 
scheme and are awaiting sentencing. 

Former Nurse Pleads Guilty to Fraudulently Obtaining Fentanyl  
Angelica Franklin Worked as a Nurse at Sentara Martha Jefferson Hospital in Charlottesville  
Angelica Franklin, 36, of Chesterfield, Virginia, waived her right to be indicted and pled guilty July 25, 2022 to one count of acquiring 
or obtaining controlled substances by misrepresentation by fraud, forgery, or deception. 
Franklin, a former registered nurse who worked in the Emergency Department at Sentara Martha Jefferson Hospital (SMJH) in 
Charlottesville, pled guilty today to obtaining controlled substances, fentanyl, and hydromorphone, by fraud. 
According to court documents, Franklin was a registered nurse with the Virginia Department of Health Professions Board of Nursing. 
On August 16, 2021, she began working in the Emergency Department of SMJH in Charlottesville. 
Franklin admitted that in September 2021, she knowingly and intentionally entered fraudulent verbal orders for fentanyl and 
hydromorphone into the SMJH electronic medical records system on behalf of physicians who did not issue the verbal orders. Franklin 
then obtained the fentanyl and hydromorphone from the SMJH automated dispensing cabinet but did not administer the controlled 
substances to patients. 
In addition, Franklin admitted to unlawfully obtaining controlled substances fentanyl, hydromorphone, oxycodone, and alprazolam 
while working as a nurse at three Richmond-area health care facilities: Stony Point Surgery Center, Vibra Hospital, and The Laurels of 
Willow Creek. 
In total, across all facilities, Franklin unlawfully obtained approximately 4,450 mcg of fentanyl, 80 mg of hydromorphone, 3,600 mg of 
oxycodone, and 14 mg of alprazolam. 
Franklin is scheduled to be sentenced on November 10, 2022 and faces a maximum penalty of four years in prison. A federal district 
court judge will determine any sentence after considering the U.S. Sentencing Guidelines and other statutory factors. 
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Jury Convicts Doctor of Health Care Fraud Scheme 
Harold Bendelstein, 71, of Queens, New York was convicted by a federal jury for defrauding Medicare and Medicaid by causing the 
submission of false and fraudulent claims for surgical procedures that were not performed. 
According to court documents and evidence presented at trial, Bendelstein, billed Medicare and Medicaid for an incision procedure of 
the external ear for hundreds of patients, when in fact all he actually performed was an ear exam or ear wax removal. Specifically, 
between January 2014 and February 2018, Bendelstein, an ENT doctor, billed Medicare and Medicaid approximately $585,000 and was 
paid approximately $191,000. Medicare and Medicaid data demonstrated that Bendelstein was an outlier and the highest biller for this 
procedure in New York State. 
Bendelstein was convicted of one count of health care fraud and one count of making a false claim. He is scheduled to be sentenced on 
Nov. 7, and faces a maximum penalty of 15 years in prison. A federal district court judge will determine any sentence after considering 
the U.S. Sentencing Guidelines and other statutory factors. 

Bingham Farms Physician Convicted of Drug and Health Care Fraud Charges 
David Jankowski, 62, a Bingham Farms physician was convicted July 12, 2022 by a federal jury in Detroit on thirty charges related to 
the unlawful distribution of Schedule II, III and IV controlled substances and health care fraud. 
The trial began on May 10, 2022, held before United States District Judge Bernard A. Friedman in Detroit. Jankowski will be sentenced 
on November 15, 2022, at 1:30 pm. 
The charges on which he was convicted stemmed from Jankowski’s operation of Summit Medical Group, a purported medical clinic 
formerly located in Dearborn Heights and Southfield, MI. According to the evidence presented at trial, Dr. Jankowski wrote medically 
unnecessary prescriptions for controlled substances such as Oxycontin, Oxycodone, morphine, hydrocodone, and Xanax. He also 
prescribed controlled substances after receiving cash from patient recruiters who brought patients to his practice. The evidence 
demonstrated that Jankowski issued or authorized the issuance of more than 1.7 million Schedule II controlled substances to individuals 
outside the course of professional medical practice and for no legitimate medical purpose in exchange for compensation. As part of this 
scheme, Dr. Jankowski also issued or authorized the issuance more than 800,000 Schedule III controlled substances and more than 
870,00 Schedule IV controlled substances. The evidence also showed that Jankowski used his access to controlled substances to lure 
patients into his health care fraud scheme. Patients were attracted to his practice by the easy access to controlled substances. Many of 
these patients had no need for the drugs. Instead, the controlled substances were sold on the streets to feed the addictions of opioid 
addicts. Trial testimony and exhibits showed that Jankowski then submitted false and fraudulent insurance claims asserting that he had 
provided necessary treatment to these patients. The claims were submitted to Michigan auto insurance companies, private health care 
insurers, Medicare and Medicaid. Based upon these fraudulent claims, Dr. Jankowski received more than $29.3 million from the auto 
and private insurance companies and more than $6 million from Medicare and Medicaid. 
Dr. Jankowski was convicted of thirty of the thirty-two counts with which he was charged and faces a statutory maximum penalty of 20 
years in federal prison. 

East Windsor Man Admits Role in Oxycodone Prescription Fraud Scheme 
Jayson Kemp, 45, on July 5, 2022, pleaded guilty before U.S. District Judge Victor A. Bolden in Bridgeport, Connecticut to one count 
of conspiracy to possess with intent to distribute, and to distribute, oxycodone. 
According to court documents and statements made in court, Kemp obtained blank prescription paper from employees of various 
Connecticut medical practices. He kept some of the prescription paper for himself and also sold some of the prescription paper, for 
thousands of dollars, to other individuals, including Oral Welborn, who resided in Hartford. Kemp, Welborn and another co-conspirator 
then recruited “runners,” who typically were individuals who received Medicaid and Medicare benefits, to fill fraudulent prescriptions 
at various pharmacies. Kemp, Welborn and the other co-conspirator filled out each prescription with the runner’s identifying information 
and forged a doctor’s signature on the prescription.  The runner then filled the fraudulent prescription at a pharmacy, generally using 
their Medicaid or Medicare benefits, and provided the pills to Kemp, Welborn and their co-conspirator in exchange for approximately 
$50 per prescription.  Kemp, Welborn and their co-conspirator then sold the pills to individuals suffering from opioid addictions. 
Kemp, Welborn and their co-conspirator were responsible for filling at least 150 fraudulent prescriptions for oxycodone, almost all of 
which were for 150 30-mg oxycodone pills. 
Kemp was arrested on August 2, 2019. He is released on a $150,000 bail pending sentencing, which is not scheduled. 
Welborn pleaded guilty to the same charge on March 10, 2020, and awaits sentencing. Kemp and Welborn’s co-conspirator was charged 
and convicted in state court. 

Solera Specialty Pharmacy Agrees to Enter into Deferred Prosecution Agreement and Pay $1.31 Million  
Solera Specialty Pharmacy has entered into a deferred prosecution agreement and agreed to pay a $1.31 million civil settlement to 
resolve allegations that it submitted fraudulent claims to Medicare for Evzio, a high-priced drug used in rapid reversal of opioid 
overdoses. 
According to Solera’s admissions in the criminal and civil agreements, the pharmacy dispensed Evzio from January 2017 to May 2018. 
During that time, Evzio was the highest-priced version of naloxone on the market and insurers frequently required the submission of 
prior authorization requests before they would approve coverage for Evzio. Solera completed Evzio prior authorizations forms in place 
of the prescribing physicians, including instances in which Solera staff signed the forms without the physician’s authorization and listed 
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Solera’s contact information as if it were the physician’s information. In addition, Solera submitted Evzio prior authorization requests 
that contained false clinical information to secure approval for the expensive drug. Finally, Solera waived Medicare beneficiary co-
payment obligations for Evzio on numerous occasions without analyzing whether the patient had a genuine financial hardship. 
Solera entered into a deferred prosecution agreement in connection with a criminal information charging the pharmacy with one count 
of health care fraud. Solera and its CEO, Nicholas Saraniti, also entered into a civil settlement agreement and will pay the government 
$1.31 million to resolve claims under the False Claims Act. 
In connection with the settlements, Solera and Saraniti entered into a three-year integrity agreement (IA) with the U.S. Department of 
Health and Human Services Office of Inspector General (HHS-OIG). The IA requires, among other things, Solera implement measures 
designed to ensure that its submission of claims for pharmaceutical products complies with applicable law relating to prior authorizations 
and collection of beneficiary co-payment obligations. In addition, the IA requires reviews by an independent review organization. 
The civil settlement includes the resolution of claims brought under the qui tam or whistleblower provisions of the False Claims Act by 
Rebecca Socol, a former employee of kaléo Inc., the manufacturer of Evzio. Under those provisions, a private party can file an action 
on behalf of the United States and receive a portion of any recovery. As part of this resolution, Ms. Socol will receive $262,000 of the 
settlement amount. The qui tam case is captioned United States ex rel. Socol v. Solera Specialty Pharmacy LLC., 18-cv010050-RGS (D. 
Mass.) (under seal). In 2021, the department announced settlements with kaléo for $12.7 million and with other pharmacies for $1 
million relating to the submission of false claims for Evzio. 

Jury Convicts Man Of $600 Million Health Care Fraud, Wire Fraud, And Id Theft Scheme 
Mathew James, 54, of East Northport, New York was convicted by a federal jury on July 13, 2022 in an over $600 million health care 
fraud, wire fraud, and identity theft scheme. 
According to court documents and evidence presented at trial, Mathew James, 54, of East Northport, operated a medical billing company 
that billed for procedures that were either more serious or entirely different than those James’ doctor-clients performed. James directed 
his doctor-clients to schedule elective surgeries through the emergency room so that insurance companies would reimburse at 
substantially higher rates. When insurance companies denied the inflated claims, James impersonated patients to demand that the 
insurance companies pay the outstanding balances of tens or hundreds of thousands of dollars. 
James was convicted of conspiracy to commit health care fraud, health care fraud, three counts of wire fraud, and three counts of 
aggravated identity theft. He is scheduled to be sentenced at a later date and faces up to 10 years in prison for health care fraud conspiracy, 
up to 10 years in prison for health care fraud, up to 20 years in prison for each of three wire fraud counts, and a two year mandatory 
minimum each for three aggravated identity theft counts. A federal district court judge will determine any sentence after considering the 
U.S. Sentencing Guidelines and other statutory factors. 

BioReference Laboratories Agrees to Pay $9.85 Million To Resolve False Claims Act  
BioReference Health LLC, formerly known as BioReference Laboratories, Inc., (BioReference), and OPKO Health, Inc. (OPKO) 
agreed to pay $9.85 million to resolve alleged violations of the False Claims Act arising from BioReference’s payment of above-market 
rents to physician landlords for office space in order to induce referrals from those physicians to BioReference. BioReference, a 
subsidiary of OPKO, is headquartered in New Jersey and is one of the largest clinical laboratories in the United States. 
The Physician Self-Referral Law, commonly known as the Stark Law, prohibits a health care provider from billing for certain services 
referred by physicians with whom the provider has a financial relationship, unless that relationship satisfies one of the law’s statutory 
or regulatory exceptions. The Anti-Kickback Statute prohibits offering or paying remuneration to induce the referral of items or services 
covered by Medicare, Medicaid and certain other federally funded programs. Both the Stark Law and the Anti-Kickback Statute are 
intended to ensure that medical judgments are not compromised by improper financial inducements. 
As part of today’s settlement, BioReference admitted that it rented the office space from the specified physician practices for Patient 
Service Centers (PSCs), where patients could have their blood samples taken. In calculating payments under certain PSC lease 
arrangements, BioReference inaccurately measured the amount of space BioReference would use exclusively and included a 
disproportionate share of common spaces. BioReference analyzed referrals from nearby health care providers — including physician-
lessors — when deciding whether to open, maintain or close PSCs. Following OPKO’s acquisition of BioReference, the companies 
conducted multiple internal audits that showed that the payments to the specified physician-lessors exceeded fair market value. 
BioReference did not report or return any overpayments to federal health care programs. 
The settlement resolves allegations that were originally brought in a lawsuit filed by Jean Marie Crowley, a former employee at 
BioReference and OPKO, under the qui tam or whistleblower provisions of the False Claims Act. Under those provisions, a private 
party can file an action on behalf of the government and share in any recovery. Ms. Crowley will receive approximately $1.7 million as 
her share of the recovery in this case.  The qui tam case is captioned United States ex rel. Crowley v. BioReference Laboratories, Inc. 
and OPKO Health, Inc., Civil Action No. 19-CV-10981-WGY (D. Mass.). Under the settlement, defendants will also pay the 
Commonwealth of Massachusetts $141,041 and the State of Connecticut $5,001 to resolve alleged violations of their respective state 
False Claims Acts. 
The investigation was conducted by the Civil Division, Commercial Litigation Branch, Fraud Section, of the Department of Justice and 
the U.S. Attorney’s Office for the District of Massachusetts with assistance from HHS-OIG and Office of the General Counsel, the 
Department of Defense Office of Inspector General and the FBI. 
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Connecticut Ophthalmologist Pleads Guilty to Five-Year Health Care Fraud Scheme 
Dr. Donald Salzberg, 67, of Avon, Conn., pleaded guilty before U.S. Senior District Court Judge Douglas P. Woodlock to one count 
of conspiracy to commit health care fraud and one count of conspiracy to receive kickbacks. A sentencing hearing has not yet been 
scheduled by the Court. Salzberg was charged by an Information on May 23, 2022. 
Salzberg, a licensed medical doctor in the State of Connecticut for 36 years, owned and operated Donald J. Salzberg, M.D., an 
ophthalmology practice in West Hartford, Conn. From 2014 through 2019, Salzberg conspired with a principal for a medical diagnostics 
company that performed transcranial doppler (TCD) scans – brain scans that measure blood flow in parts of the brain – to order hundreds 
of medically unnecessary TCD scans in exchange for kickbacks. Salzberg and his co-conspirator used false patient diagnoses to order 
the unnecessary brain scans, for which the co-conspirator would submit claims to Medicare and other insurance companies on behalf of 
the medical diagnostic company for payment. In exchange, Salzberg was paid cash kickbacks of $100 to $125 per test that he ordered, 
as well as sham administrative services fees. The scheme resulted in fraudulent bills of over $3 million to Medicare and private insurance 
companies.  
The charge of conspiracy to commit health care fraud provides for a sentence of up to 10 years in prison, three years of supervised 
release and a fine of up to $250,000. The charge of conspiracy to violate the anti-kickback statute provides for a sentence of up to five 
years in prison, three years of supervised release and a fine of up to $250,000. Sentences are imposed by a federal district court judge 
based upon the U.S. Sentencing Guidelines and statutes which govern the determination of a sentence in a criminal case. 

Attorney Sentenced to Prison for Defrauding Medicaid in Scheme Involving Personal Care Services 
Defendant Admitted Submitting False Timesheets as a Home Health Care Provider Over Two-Year Period  
Susan Engonwei Tingwei, 44, of Silver Spring, Md., a licensed attorney, was sentenced today to 10 months in prison for defrauding 
the D.C. Medicaid program out of more than $100,000 in a scheme involving false claims about personal care services. 
Tingwei pleaded guilty in November 2021, in the U.S. District Court for the District of Columbia, to health care fraud. She was sentenced 
by the Honorable Carl J. Nichols. Following her prison term, she will be placed on two years of supervised release. She also must pay 
$131,656 in restitution and an identical amount in a forfeiture money judgment. 
Tingwei admitted that at various times between 2016 and 2018, she was employed by two different home health agencies in the District 
of Columbia. The home health agencies employed her to assist D.C. Medicaid beneficiaries in performing activities of daily living, such 
as getting in and out of bed, bathing, dressing, and eating. 
Tingwei was supposed to document the care that she provided to Medicaid beneficiaries on timesheets and then submit the timesheets 
to the home health agencies, which would in turn bill Medicaid for the services that she rendered. As part of her guilty plea, Tingwei 
admitted that she submitted false timesheets claiming to provide services that she did not actually render. 
Tingwei earned her Master of Laws degree from the University of Maryland in May 2017. She was admitted to the New York state bar 
in February 2018 and the Maryland state bar in January 2020. 
On 118 occasions between August 2016 and May 2017, Tingwei submitted timesheets claiming that she worked as a personal care aide 
in Washington, D.C., during the same hours when she either was scheduled to attend law school classes in Baltimore, or when she 
should have been traveling to or from Baltimore related to her law school program. For example, Tingwei submitted timesheets claiming 
that she provided services to two beneficiaries on April 13, 2017, one from 7 a.m. to 3 p.m., and the other from 3:30 p.m. to 8:30 p.m. 
Records show Tingwei’s key card swiping in at the University of Maryland’s law school campus at 5:30 p.m. and swiping out at 9:29 
p.m. Cell phone records also showed her cell phone being in Baltimore between 8:03 a.m. and 9:31 p.m. that day. 
Tingwei admitted that her fraud scheme began no later than August 2016 and continued through September 2018. She acknowledged 
successfully defrauding the D.C. Medicaid program out of $131,656. 
Since August 2018, 11 former personal care aides have pleaded guilty to defrauding Medicaid in the U.S. District Court for the District 
of Columbia. Six of those aides were sentenced to 13 months in prison; a seventh was sentenced to serve 15 months. 

California Pain Specialist Agrees to Settle Alleged Receipt of Kickbacks from Purdue Pharma  
Dr. Gerald M. Sacks, a pain specialist with an office in Santa Monica, California, has paid $271,259.12 to resolve allegations that he 
violated the False Claims Act. The allegations concerned prescribing the medications Butrans, Hysingla and OxyContin to Medicare 
beneficiaries in exchange, at least in part, for receiving paid speaking and consulting work from their manufacturer, Purdue Pharma 
LP, and the medications Gralise, Lazanda and Nucynta to Medicare beneficiaries in exchange, at least in part, for receiving paid speaking 
and consulting work from their manufacturer, Depomed Inc. 
Prescribing drugs in exchange for receiving paid speaking and consulting work from their manufacturers violates the Anti-Kickback 
Statute, and renders associated claims to federal health care programs false. Butrans, Hysingla, OxyContin, Lazanda and Nucynta are 
opioid medications for the treatment of pain. Gralise is a nerve-pain medication. 
Physicians are prohibited from accepting kickbacks designed to influence their decision making. Adherence to this prohibition is 
especially crucial with regard to dangerous drugs like opioids. 

Treatment Clinic Owner Convicted of Unlawfully Distributing Opioids 
Hau T. La, 54, of Brentwood, Tennessee, a physician was convicted July 20, 2022 in the Middle District of Tennessee for unlawfully 
distributing opioids from his Smyrna clinic. 
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According to court documents and evidence presented at trial, La owned and operated Absolute Medical Care (AMC), which closed 
in the Spring of 2021. At AMC, La purportedly provided addiction treatment as his primary practice, but nevertheless prescribed opioid 
pain pills to some of his patients despite red flags for addiction and abuse. AMC, which did not accept health insurance, charged patients 
$200-$350 cash, credit, or debit, per visit and was only open on Fridays. La rarely spent more than a few minutes with the patients to 
whom he provided unlawful opioid prescriptions. 
La was convicted of 12 counts of unlawful distribution of a controlled substance, outside the usual course of professional practice and 
not for a legitimate medical purpose. He faces a maximum of 20 years in prison for each of these convictions. La was acquitted on four 
counts of the indictment. A federal district court judge will determine any sentence after considering the U.S. Sentencing Guidelines 
and other statutory factors. Sentencing is scheduled for Jan. 5, 2023. 

Inform Diagnostics Agrees to Pay $16 Million To Resolve False Claims Act Allegations  
Inform Diagnostics, Inc., (Inform) formerly known as Miraca Life Sciences, Inc. (Inform), has agreed to pay $16 million to resolve 
allegations that it submitted false claims for payment to Medicare and other federal health care programs. 
Inform is a clinical laboratory headquartered in Irving, Texas, that provides anatomic pathology services to physician practices 
throughout the United States. On April 27, 2022, Fulgent Genetics purchased Inform, and the company is now a wholly owned subsidiary 
of Fulgent Genetics. 
According to the settlement, Inform admits that, between 2013 and 2018, it routinely and automatically conducted additional tests on 
biopsy specimens prior to a pathologist’s review and without an individualized determination regarding whether additional tests were 
medically necessary. The United States contends that Inform’s policy of conducting routine additional tests caused Inform to perform 
many tests that were medically unnecessary. Inform submitted these medically unnecessary tests for payment, causing federal health 
care programs to pay for false claims. 
The False Claims Act allegations being resolved were originally brought in a lawsuit filed by a whistleblower under the qui tam
provisions of the False Claims Act. Under those provisions, a private party can file an action on behalf of the government and share in 
any recovery. In connection with today’s settlement, the whistleblower will receive 17 percent of the recovery.  

Sacramento Area Home Health Care and Hospice Agencies Owner Sentenced To 18 Months in Prison  
Liana Karapetyan, 42, of El Dorado Hills, California was sentenced on July 21, 2022 by U.S. District Judge Troy L. Nunley to 18 
months in prison for one count of conspiracy to commit health care fraud and one count of conspiracy to pay and receive health care 
kickbacks, U.S. Attorney Phillip A. Talbert announced. 
According to court documents, Karapetyan and her husband, Akop Atoyan, owned and controlled home health care and hospice 
agencies in the greater Sacramento area: ANG Health Care Inc., Excel Home Healthcare Inc., and Excel Hospice Inc. On behalf of 
the agencies, Karapetyan and Atoyan certified to Medicare that they would not pay kickbacks in exchange for Medicare beneficiary 
referrals to the agencies. 
Despite their certifications, from at least July 2015 through April 2019, Karapetyan and Atoyan paid and directed others to pay kickbacks 
to multiple individuals for beneficiary referrals, including employees of health care facilities, as well as employees’ spouses. The 
kickback recipients included John Eby, a registered nurse who worked for a hospital in Sacramento; Anita Vijay, the director of social 
services at a skilled nursing and assisted living facility in Sacramento; Jai Vijay, Anita Vijay’s husband; and Mariela Panganiban, the 
director of social services at a skilled nursing facility in Roseville. 
In total, Karapetyan, Atoyan, and others caused the agencies to submit over 8,000 claims to Medicare for the cost of home health care 
and hospice services. Based on those claims, Medicare paid the agencies approximately $31 million. Of that amount, Medicare paid the 
agencies at least $2 million for services purportedly provided to beneficiaries referred in exchange for kickbacks paid to, among others, 
Eby, Anita Vijay, Jai Vijay, and Panganiban. Because the agencies obtained the beneficiary referrals by paying kickbacks, the agencies 
should not have received any Medicare reimbursement. 

Connecticut Ophthalmologist Pleads Guilty to Five-Year Health Care Fraud Scheme 
Dr. Donald Salzberg, 67, of Avon, Conn., pleaded guilty before U.S. Senior District Court Judge Douglas P. Woodlock to one count 
of conspiracy to commit health care fraud and one count of conspiracy to receive kickbacks 
Salzbert, a Connecticut doctor pleaded guilty July 14, 2022 in federal court in Boston to receiving kickbacks in exchange for ordering 
medically unnecessary brain scans. 
Salzberg, a licensed medical doctor in the State of Connecticut for 36 years, owned and operated Donald J. Salzberg, M.D., an 
ophthalmology practice in West Hartford, Conn. From 2014 through 2019, Salzberg conspired with a principal for a medical diagnostics 
company that performed transcranial doppler (TCD) scans – brain scans that measure blood flow in parts of the brain – to order hundreds 
of medically unnecessary TCD scans in exchange for kickbacks.  
Salzberg and his co-conspirator used false patient diagnoses to order the unnecessary brain scans, for which the co-conspirator would 
submit claims to Medicare and other insurance companies on behalf of the medical diagnostic company for payment. In exchange, 
Salzberg was paid cash kickbacks of $100 to $125 per test that he ordered, as well as sham administrative services fees. The scheme 
resulted in fraudulent bills of over $3 million to Medicare and private insurance companies.  
The charge of conspiracy to commit health care fraud provides for a sentence of up to 10 years in prison, three years of supervised 
release and a fine of up to $250,000. The charge of conspiracy to violate the anti-kickback statute provides for a sentence of up to five 
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years in prison, three years of supervised release and a fine of up to $250,000. Sentences are imposed by a federal district court judge 
based upon the U.S. Sentencing Guidelines and statutes which govern the determination of a sentence in a criminal case. 

Posing as a Sick Marine Vet Pleads Guilty to Fraud
Sarah Jane Cavanaugh, of East Greenwich, Rhode Island woman signed an agreement under which she will admit to wire fraud, 
aggravated identity theft, forgery, and fraudulent use of medals. Authorities say Cavanaugh pretended to be a decorated Marine Corps 
veteran with cancer to fraudulently collect about $250,000 in veterans benefits and charitable contributions agreed to plead guilty. 
Prosecutors say there’s no record of Cavanaugh ever serving in the U.S. military. She worked as a social worker at a veterans’ hospital. 

New York Doctor Admits Fraud Targeting Amtrak, Drug Distribution
Michael DeNicola, 59, pleaded guilty before U.S. District Judge Madeline Cox Arleo in Newark federal court to an information charging 
him with conspiracy to commit health care fraud, distribution of a controlled substance, and unlawful possession of a firearm. DeNicola, 
a New York doctor admitted to participating in a health care fraud scheme to defraud Amtrak, distribution of a controlled substance in 
furtherance of that scheme, and the unlawful possession of a firearm. 
According to documents filed in this case and statements made in court: 

From 2019 to August 2021, DeNicola and his conspirators agreed to engage in a scheme to bill the Amtrak health care 
plan for fraudulent claims for services that either were never provided or were medically unnecessary. They would 
recruit Amtrak employees to participate in the scheme by paying them to allow the conspirators to use their patient 
and insurance information to submit false and fraudulent claims. DeNicola and his conspirators submitted false and 
fraudulent claims that caused Amtrak losses of more than $1.6 million. 
DeNicola also provided oxycodone prescriptions to an individual in return for the individual’s agreement to allow his 
patient and insurance information to be used for the submission of fraudulent insurance claims. DeNicola provided 
oxycodone prescription to others at the direction of this individual and did so outside of the usual course of professional 
treatment and without legitimate medical purpose. From April 2017 through February 2018, DeNicola issued 64 
oxycodone prescriptions in this manner. 

DeNicola also unlawfully possessed a firearm on Sept. 1, 2019, after previously having been convicted in a court of a crime punishable 
by a term of imprisonment exceeding one year. 
The conspiracy to commit health care fraud and unlawful possession of a firearm charges each carry a maximum potential penalty of 10 
years in prison and a $250,000 fine, or twice the gross gain or loss from the offense, whichever is greatest. The distribution of a controlled 
substance charge carries a maximum potential penalty of 20 years in prison and a $1million fine, or twice the gross gain or loss from 
the offense, whichever is greatest. Sentencing is scheduled for Nov. 22, 2022. 

Excellence in Claims Handling
Create a Staff of Professional Claims Handlers 
Click Here to Subscribe to the Excellence in Claims Handling Programs for Each of Your Claims Personnel for Only $5 A 
Month Or $50 A Year by Subscribing to Zalma on Insurance at Locals.
Barry Zalma has created at Locals.com a series of insurance educational materials most of which are free to anyone. The free materials 
include more than 441 videos and more than 4200 digests of recent appellate court opinions and more than 81 videos dealing with true 
crime stories of insurance fraud.
In addition to the free materials, for a paid subscription of only $5 a month or $50 a year to Zalma on Insurance at Locals.com you or 
your staff of claims personnel can receive important, more detailed and informative information needed by everyone interested in 

insurance, insurance claims, insurance law or insurance fraud.  
Each video will run from five to twenty minutes and can be viewed by each claims person 
with a first cup of coffee or glass of orange juice once or multiple time if desired.  
How to Subscribe to Zalma on Insurance and Excellence in Claims 
Handling
To gain access to the special materials you can Subscribe to Zalma on Insurance at 
locals.com Subscribe and receive videos limited to subscribers of Excellence in Claims 
Handling at locals.com https://zalmaoninsurance.locals.com/subscribe.

The Locals.com community is called Zalma on Insurance and is a community created by Barry Zalma, Esq., CFE and ClaimSchool, 
Inc. to help create a community of insurance professionals dedicated to excellence in claims handling.
Zalma on Insurance will provide materials on insurance, insurance claims, insurance law and insurance fraud. Some material, like the 
daily blog posting, will be presented free while the Excellence in Claims Handling will require a Locals subscription. 
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Excellence in Claims Handling will be a source for the insurance claims person to become an insurance claims professional who can 
provide excellence in claims handling to the insurance buying public locals.com https://zalmaoninsurance.locals.com/subscribe. 
Become a Professional Claims Handler
In search of profit, insurers have decimated their professional claims staff. They laid off experienced personnel and replaced them with 
young, untrained, unprepared people. A virtual clerk replaced the old professional claims handler. Process and computers replaced 
hands-on human skill, empathy and judgment. Money was saved by paying lower salaries. Within three months of firing the experienced 
claims people gross profit increased. 
The promises made by an insurance policy are kept by the professional claims person. Keeping a professional claims staff dedicated to 
excellence in claims handling is cost-effective over long periods of time. A professional and experienced adjuster will save the insurer 
millions by resolving disputes, paying claims owed promptly and fairly, and by so doing avoid litigation. 
The professional claims person is an important part of the insurer’s defense against litigation by insureds against insurers for breach of 
contract and the tort of bad faith. Claims professionals resolve more claims for less money without the need for either party to involve 
counsel. A happy insured or claimant satisfied with the results of his or her claim will never sue the insurer. 
Insurers who believe they can professionally, fairly, and in good faith with young, inexpensive, inexperienced and untrained claims 
handlers should be accosted by angry stockholders whose dividends have plummeted or will plummet as a result. When an insurer 
compromises on staff, profits, thin as they may have been previously, will move rapidly into negative territory. Tort and punitive 
damages will deplete reserves. Insurers will quickly question why they are writing insurance. Those who stay in the business of insurance 
will either adopt a program requiring excellence in claims handling from every member of their claims staff, or they will fail. 
Insurance is a business that must change if it is to survive. Insurers must rethink the firing of experienced claims staff and reductions in 
training to save “expense.” Insurers should, if they wish to succeed, adopt a program to promote excellence in claims handling that can 
help insurers keep the promises made by the insurance policy and avoid charges of breach of contract and the tort bad faith in both first 
and third party claims. 

Scot Strems, the pain in the bank accounts of Florida insurers could see his two-year suspension completed in July 2022. But 
allegations by the state Bar could result in new sanctions or even a permanent disbarment. 
A 25-page complaint, separate from previous allegations, charges that Miami attorney Strems and his law firm, in 2018 informed a client 
of a settlement with a property insurance company but then secretly settled with the insurer for twice as much and attempted to pocket 
a large, unauthorized fee. 
Strems also provided false and misleading information to the Bar when investigators asked him about his actions in representing the 85-
year-old homeowner, Margaret Nowak, in a Hurricane Irma claim. 
Strems was touted as a living example of widespread abuse of the legal system by some Florida plaintiffs’ attorneys. He was charged 
with filing thousands of suits against insurers, many of them on the same claim, and was suspended from law practice in 2020. The Bar 
had asked for disbarment, but a referee in the case recommended a two-year suspension. The Supreme Court granted an emergency 
suspension in June 2020, noting that the lawyer was suspended until further order from the court. 
The Nowak matter began in 2017 when she filed a claim with her insurer, Florida Peninsula Insurance Co. The Bar complaint did not 
explain how Nowak came to hire the Strems Law Firm, but the contingency agreement noted that the firm would charge a 25% fee. If 
the claim went to litigation, the firm would receive or 30% of the award or the court-awarded amount, whichever was greater. 
Strems’ firm hired Contender Claims Consultants, a public adjuster firm, which estimated that Nowak’s home had suffered $64,000 in 
damages in the storm. Contender Claims is familiar to Florida insurers. Insurers and their counsel contend Contender worked closely 
with Strems to exaggerate damages in many assignment-of-benefit and other claims. In May, the adjuster firm, a restoration company 
and Strems agreed to settle for $1 million a lawsuit brought by Citizens Property Insurance Corp. that had accused the principals of 
fraud in hundreds of insurance claims. 
In the Nowak claim, Florida Peninsula informed the Strems’ firm that it would settle the claim for $30,000, leaving $22,500 for the 
homeowner and a $7,500 attorney fee for Strems. One of Nowak’s sons agreed, but Strems law firm attorney suggested he could get a 
little more, the Bar complaint explained. Despite several attempts by Nowak’s son to reach Strems’ firm in the following weeks, though, 
the law firm did not readily respond. 
It turned out that Strems’ firm had negotiated a $45,000 settlement with Florida Peninsula, and arranged for the insurer to send a $22,500 
check for Nowak and another $22,500 check to the Strems firm. When informed of the 50% attorney fee, Nowak’s sons were angered. 
When the Bar investigators asked Scot Strems about the case, the lawyer offered a “gross misrepresentation of fact.” Strems said Nowak 
had never been a client and that he had not personally provided legal services, the Bar said. He also failed to turn over all documents 
requested by the investigators but did say that the attorney fee practice was “standard procedure.” 
“From the foregoing facts, it is apparent that the allegations in this complaint are not the result of an isolated indiscretion,” the Bar 
complaint argues. “Rather, the misconduct alleged in this complaint is systemic within respondent’s practice.” 
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Strems faces other pending disciplinary actions by the Bar, which could result in further suspensions or a permanent end to his law 
practice. 
After Strems’ 2020 suspension, the Bar moved to find Strems in contempt over the way his law firm was dissolved, with most firm 
attorneys simply moving to a new firm known as The Property Advocates. The Florida Bar is now urging the state Supreme Court to 
take a harder line, arguing that the referee misunderstood the nature of Strems’ actions, which were aimed at avoiding some of the 
impact of the earlier suspension on his law firm. Strems also notified his clients of his suspension in a way that the Bar said was 
misleading, Bar attorneys wrote. 

In Addition, Another Strems Law Firm Attorney Suspended by Florida Supreme Court
Fallout from the infamous Strems Law Firm’s litigation practices in Florida continues. Two years after Coral Gables plaintiffs’ attorney 
Scot Strems was suspended from practice for filing thousands of unnecessary lawsuits against property insurers and violating other Bar 
rules, and two years after the Florida Bar filed a complaint against another attorney with the firm, the state Supreme Court has suspended 
the lawyer for 91 days. 
Gregory Saldamando, 39, represented a South Florida couple in a sinkhole damage claim against American Integrity Insurance Co., 
after a claims adjuster had the couple sign a retainer agreement with the Strems firm, the Bar explained. 
Saldamando also did not provide the clients with any invoices or substantiation of the fees claimed by the firm. And although 
Saldamando withdrew as counsel before settling the case, the Strems firm took $30,000 from the final settlement obtained by new 
counsel, for fees and costs. 
A judicial referee appointed to hear Saldamando’s disciplinary case recommended in April 2021 only that he be publicly reprimanded 
and that he reimburse the Bar $8,100 for its investigative costs. Referee Dawn Denaro, who normally works as a children’s court judge 
in Miami, said that Saldamando did not appear to have a selfish or dishonest motive and had taken steps to resolve the fee dispute with 
the clients. 
But the Florida Supreme Court, as it has done several times in the last year, overruled the referee and imposed the 91-day suspension, 
plus the cost reimbursement. The court said in its March 31 order that Saldamando had violated three Bar rules of professional conduct. 
The court said it “disapproves the referee’s recommendation as to discipline, and instead imposes a ninety-one day suspension from the 
practice of law, effective thirty days from the date of this order so that respondent can close out his practice and protect the interests of 
existing clients,” reads the order, endorsed by all seven justices. 
The 91st day makes a difference. A lawyer suspended for 90 days or less is automatically reinstated after the suspension is completed; 
the Florida Bar explains on its website. A suspension for 91 days or more is considered “rehabilitative,” which requires the attorney to 
show he has changed his ways before eligible for reinstatement. 
The reinstatement process can take several months, the organization said. The Bar counsel must investigate the petition for reinstatement, 
and then it goes back to the original referee for another hearing. Lawyers who continue to practice while suspended can be held in 
contempt of court and may face further disciplinary action or disbarment. 

Woman Pleads Guilty in Louisiana Staged Auto Collision Scheme
Stacie Wheaton, age 51, of Fairburn, Georgia, pled guilty on July 21, 2022 to count one (1) of her indictment, charging Conspiracy to 
Commit Mail Fraud in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 371. United States Attorney Duane A. Evans announced that 
In exchange, the government has agreed to dismiss four counts of Mail Fraud in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1341 
and 2. In pleading guilty to Count 1, the defendant faces a maximum penalty of five (5) years’ imprisonment; a term of supervised 
release of up to three (3) years; and a fine up to $250,000.00, as well as a mandatory special assessment fee of $100.00. Today’s guilty 
plea bring the total number of defendants convicted in Operation Sideswipe to 38. 
According to court documents, Stacey Wheaton served as an intermediary who recruited and directed passengers to participate in staged 
automobile collisions with tractor-trailers on May 17, 2017 and June 6, 2017. The passengers in these collisions filed fraudulent lawsuits 
that falsely claimed that the tractor-trailers were at fault. Stacey Wheaton coordinated with co-conspirators including “slammer” Damian 
Labeaud and attorney Patrick Keating to arrange the staged collisions. 
The Honorable Jane Triche Milazzo set sentencing in this matter for October 26, 2022. 

Insurance Fraud is a Violent Crime - Two Guilty in Sweetie Pie’s Murder-For-Hire Plot
Terica Ellis and Waiel Rebhi Yaghnam charged with the murder-for-hire plot that led to the death of Andre Montgomery in 2016 
pleaded guilty July 22, 2022. 
In 2020, the two were charged with conspiracy to commit wire and mail fraud. Yaghnam was charged with five counts of aggravated 
identify theft. Montgomery, the grandson of original Sweetie Pie’s owner Robbie Montgomery, was shot and killed near Fairground 
Park on March 14, 2016. James Timothy Norman, Montgomery’s uncle, has been charged with conspiracy to use a cellphone in the 
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“commission” of a murder-for-hire that resulted in death. Charging documents revealed that Norman took out a $450,000 life insurance 
policy on his nephew in 2014 and Norman was the sole beneficiary. 
Norman and Yaghnam admitted they conspired to get a fraudulent life insurance policy for Andre Montgomery. Federal agents said 
Norman and Yaghnam submitted three separate life insurance applications that contained false statements about Montgomery’s income, 
net worth, medical history, employment and family background. 
According to the charging documents, Ellis and Norman both traveled to St. Louis and were there on March 14, 2016. Ellis told 
Montgomery she was coming to the city and eventually learned where he was. Once she knew that information, federal agents said Ellis 
called Norman. Around 8 p.m., Andre Montgomery was shot and killed. Charging documents said Ellis’ phone put her in the area of the 
shooting at the same time. After the shooting, federal agents said Ellis and Norman left St. Louis and headed to Memphis, Tennessee. 
On March 21, 2016, Norman contacted the insurance company about collecting the life insurance. 
The sentencing hearing for Ellis and Yaghnam is scheduled for October 26, 2022. 

Brooklyn Woman Convicted of Husband’s Murder-For-Hire Gets New Trial
Alishia Noel-Murray, 34, who was found guilty in 2017 of paying an assassin $3,500 to kill her husband,  Omar Murray, will get a 
new trial, the New York State Appellate Division, Second Department ruled on in July 2022. 
The appellate court reversed the murder conviction against Noel-Murrany, a Brooklyn woman serving life in prison for hiring a paid 
killer to kill her husband, ruling that the trial judge screwed up while giving instructions to the jury. 
Noel-Murray hid upstairs with her 10-month-old baby as her husband was fatally shot inside their Brownsville home on Feb. 24, 2013. 

The four-judge panel determined that Brooklyn Supreme Court Judge Neil Firetog never instructed the 
jury that the prosecution’s star witness, Noel-Murray’s lover, Dameon Lovell, was an accomplice to the 
crime and his testimony must be corroborated as a matter of state law. 
Lovell testified against Noel-Murray and the hired killer, Kirk Portious, as part of a plea deal, and was 
sentenced to 15 years to life.  
Portious was convicted at a separate trial, and is also serving a life sentence. The prosecution presented 
additional evidence against Portious, but the case against Noel-Murray hinged on Lovell’s testimony, the 
appeals panel wrote in a four-page ruling. 
Prosecutors argued that Noel-Murray first tried to kill her husband in October 2012 by poisoning his dinner 
after she found out he cheated on her with a prostitute. 
Omar Murray was found shot to the chest inside his Lott Ave. home in Brownsville. When that failed, she 
started an affair with Lovell and told him she wanted someone to kill Murray, 37, and that she needed her 
spouse dead to collect three life insurance policies worth $900,000, prosecutors alleged. 

Noel-Murray remains in state prison as the case works its way back to Brooklyn Supreme Court. 

Equitable Life Insurance Agrees to $50 Million Settlement of Fraud Allegations
Equitable Financial Life Insurance Co. Agreed to Pay about 1.4 million variable annuity investors who 
were the victims of an alleged fraud scheme perpetrated by the company.
Equitable allegedly gave investors, who were mostly teachers and staff members, the false impression their quarterly account statements 
listed all fees paid during the period. However, the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) said its investigation found the 
statements really only listed certain types of fees that investors infrequently incurred. More often than not, the statements allegedly 
incorrectly listed zero fees. 
In agreeing to pay the penalty, Equitable didn’t admit or deny the SEC’s findings. In addition to the penalty, Equitable agreed to revise 
how it presents fee information in its variable annuity account statements. 

  Note Zalma on Insurance is one of fifty top insurance blogs at 
https://blog.feedspot.com/insurance_law_blogs/ 
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The Equitable Remedy of Rescission of Insurance
An Effective Tool to detect, deter and defeat insurance Fraud Hardcover – June 17, 2022
Available as: A Kindle book A Paperback or a hardcover .

Insurance Fraudsters Deserve No Quarter
New Book That Explains How to Defeat or Deter Insurance Fraud
Available as a paperback here. Available as a hardcover here. Available as a Kindle Book here.

The Examination Under Oath to Resolve Insurance Claims
The Most Effective Tool Available to Insurers to Defeat Attempts at Insurance Fraud & to Resolve 
Questionable Claims
Available as a Kindle book Available as a paperback. Available as a hardcover. 

Barry Zalma, Esq., CFE, now limits his practice to service as an insurance consultant specializing in insurance coverage, 
insurance claims handling, insurance bad faith and insurance fraud almost equally for insurers and policyholders. He also 
serves as an arbitrator or mediator for insurance related disputes. He practiced law in California for more than 44 years as 
an insurance coverage and claims handling lawyer and more than 54 years in the insurance business. He is available at 
http://www.zalma.com and zalma@zalma.com.
Over the last 54 years Barry Zalma has dedicated his life to insurance, insurance claims and the need to defeat insurance fraud. He has 
created the following library of books and other materials to make it possible for insurers and their claims staff to become insurance 
claims professionals.

Barry Zalma, Inc., 4441 Sepulveda Boulevard, CULVER CITY CA 90230-4847, 310-390-4455;  
Subscribe to Zalma on Insurance at locals.com 
https://zalmaoninsurance.local.com/subscribe. Subscribe to Excellence in Claims 
Handling at https://barryzalma.substack.com/welcome. Write to Mr. Zalma at
zalma@zalma.com; http://www.zalma.com; http://zalma.com/blog; I publish daily 
articles at https://zalma.substack.com, Go to the podcast Zalma On Insurance at 
https://anchor.fm/barry-zalma; Follow Mr. Zalma on Twitter at 
https://twitter.com/bzalma; Go to Barry Zalma videos at Rumble.com at 
https://rumble.com/c/c-262921


